**RECEIVED**

**Feb 24 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Daniel McLeod Coble, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMIRA U. DAVIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001215

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal for the State's failure to produce sufficient evidence disproving the elements of self-defense?

### II.

Whether trial court reversibly erred by coercing the jury during deliberations where the trial court effectively instructed an Allen<sup>2</sup> charge twice over the course of lengthy deliberations where it was aware of the jury split, and where it used coercive language in its instructions?

### III.

Whether the trial court reversibly erred by refusing to remove a juror and grant a mistrial where evidence was produced indicating Juror #285 spoke with non-jurors regarding the case and juror deliberations, where the Trial Court refused to even question Juror #285 about the matter, and where no alternate jurors remained?

---

<sup>2</sup> Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 501–02, 17 S.Ct. 154, 157, 41 L.Ed. 528 (1896).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Jamira U. Davis was indicted for murder by the Richland County grand jury. The charge arose from an incident occurring in Hopkins, South Carolina, in the early morning of January 22, 2021. R. 14, ll. 1-13; R. 958-959.

Appellant's case proceeded to trial before the Honorable Daniel McLeod Coble and a jury from June 26th through 30th, 2023, and July 3rd, 2023. Hope L. Demer, Laura Young, Luke Shealey, and Brian Shealey (collectively, Trial Counsel) represented Appellant, while C. Dale Scott and Jack Jackson, Jr., represented the State. R. 1; R. 54; R. 373; R. 617; R. 913.

After hours of deliberations, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 896, ln. 6; R. 898, ln. 10; R. 901, ll. 4-6; R. 903, ln. 18; R. 904, ln. 22—R. 905, ln. 1; R. 910, ll. 1-17; R. 922, ln. 4; R. 925, ll. 3-6; R. ln. 13; R. 930, ln. 1; R. 930, ln. 20—R. 931, ln. 15. The trial court imposed a sentence of thirty-five (35) years. R. 952, ll. 8-11; R. 961-962.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the night of January 21, 2021, Appellant Jamira U. Davis (Appellant) drove from her apartment on Garner’s Ferry Road in Columbia, South Carolina, to Hartsville, South Carolina, with her girlfriend due to the death of her girlfriend’s grandfather. They returned home to their apartment at approximately 1:49 am on January 22, 2021. Shortly after, Appellant left to visit the home of Brandon “Boleg” Burden (Boleg) on American Avenue in Hopkins, South Carolina, to obtain marijuana. R. 448, ll. 16-21; R. 697, ln. 5—R. 699, ln. 5; R. 737, ll. 15-16. Appellant knew Boleg due to his prior long-term relationship with Appellant’s mother; despite his prior abusive conduct toward Appellant’s mother, Appellant viewed him in a fatherly role to her at the time. She still frequented Boleg’s house about two to three times per month; he would provide Appellant with marijuana—as he had since Appellant was in school. The two would smoke together and talk. R. 678—R. 687, ln. 23. Along the way to Boleg’s house, Appellant briefly stopped to visit another friend, Ishmael, whereupon the two talked and smoked marijuana. She then continued driving to Boleg’s. R. 699, ln. 6—R. 700, ln. 1; R. 730, ll. 4-23.

Appellant arrived at Boleg’s Hopkins home at approximately 2:46 am. Boleg was on the porch, which Appellant thought was odd. Earlier that night, Boleg had been drinking liquor, consuming cocaine, and losing money gambling. R. 385, ln. 1—R. 393, ln. 15; R. 448, ll. 16-21; R. 486, ln. 13—R. 488, ln. 9; R. 506, ln. 11—R. 509, ln. 7; R. 700, ll. 4-10. Appellant nonetheless walked into Boleg’s small house, and sat down. The two talked and smoked marijuana while sitting on a couch in Boleg’s small living room. The television was on, as was a light in the kitchen, the living room was dark. R. 700, ln. 12—R. 702, ln. 25; R. 731, ln. 3—R. 732, ln. 16; R. 957. Although Boleg had a hand in his pants while on the couch, Appellant did

not think much of it at the time even though it was not something Boleg usually did. R. 703, ll. 1-11.

After receiving a call from her girlfriend at approximately 3:40 am asking where she was, Appellant indicated she had the marijuana and was leaving. R. 703, ll. 12-24. Boleg then moved to sit directly next to Appellant on the couch such that their legs were touching, which made Appellant uncomfortable. Boleg then put one of his hands in Appellant's crotch on her privates. Appellant immediately jumped up, said, "I'm finna [sic] go," and tried to move to the front door. R. 703, ln. 25—R. 704, ln. 19. However, Boleg also got up, grabbed Appellant from behind, pulled her backwards, and "slung" Appellant to the floor on her hands and knees by the ottoman, while saying to Appellant, "let me talk to you, let me talk to you talk." R. 704, ln. 20—R. 706, ln. 6; R. 741, ll. 6-10; R. 957.

While holding herself up with her left arm, Appellant grabbed one of Boleg's handguns on the ottoman with her right hand and put it under her arm. R. 706, ln. 8—R. 708, ln. 19. After Boleg pulled Appellant away from the front door, he was on Appellant's back by the ottoman and trying to move her towards the bedroom. If he had taken one step back from his location, he would have been in the kitchen of the small house. R. 709, ln. 3—R. 710, ln. 25; R. 957. Appellant was frightened, and believed Boleg was going to rape her. Although Boleg was shorter than her, Appellant stated that Boleg was stronger than she was, and that she grabbed the gun as the only thing that could help her. R. 710, ll. 20-23; R. 711, ll. 1-16. Appellant reached around herself, fired the gun multiple times, and felt Boleg lift off from her once she began shooting. R. 711, ll. 17-19; R. 712, ll. 3-4. She then got up, ran out the front door, and into her car. Once in her car, she tried to compose herself, and drove home to Columbia. R. 712, ll. 5-24; R. 957.

Later that morning, emergency personnel were alerted to a fire at Boleg's home. By the time an engine from the Columbia Fire Department at approximately 6:16 am, the small home was already engulfed in flames. R. 114, ln. 1–R. 116, ln. 10. Once the fire was put out through the use of large quantities of water, the small, burned-out house was examined. Boleg's charred remains were found face-down in the kitchen area, which was right off the living room. R. 120, ln. 15—R. 121, ln. 23; R. 141, ll. 17-22; R. 144, ln. 1–R. 145, ln. 25. Autopsy results indicated Boleg was already deceased before any burning occurred to his body. Specifically, he had three to four gunshot wounds. R. 476, ll. 7-16; R. 485, ll. 2-7; R. 956. Further, as the State would concede, the fire was caused by Boleg's kerosene heater being unwatched hours after his death. R. 335, ll. 13-20; R. 102, ll. 4-11.

Based upon examination of Boleg's phone records, Richland County Sheriff's Office investigators spoke with Appellant at their headquarters on February 1, 2021. R. 187, ln. 9—R. 188, ln. 12; R. 251, ll. 8-16. Over the course of over three hours, Appellant acknowledged she shot Boleg when he tried to sexually assault her. R. 201, ln. 14—R. 208, ln. 2; R. 299, ln. 7—R. 313, ln. 7. She was arrested and charged with murder.

Appellant's case proceeded to a jury trial from June 26th through 30th, 2023, and July 3rd. R. 1; R. 54; R. 373; R. 617; R. 913. At the conclusion of the cases-in-chief for both the State and Appellant, the defense moved for a directed verdict of acquittal. Specifically, Trial Counsel asserted the State failed to produce any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence disproving self-defense. R. 516, ln. 20—R. 521, ln. 25; R. 526, ln. 6—R. 528, ln. 8; R. 785, ln. 22—R. 786, ln. 14. After listening to argument from both parties, the trial court denied the motion and held as follows:

In the light most favorable to non-moving party, I believe that there—evidence does exist. *There are credibility issues as to*

*it. As to the stories changing or not changing, I believe that there is evidence that should go to the jury for this case.*

Your motions are noted for the record. And they are all denied. All right.

R. 787, ll. 8-13 (emphasis added).

After closing arguments and instruction by the Trial Court, the jury began deliberations at 4:37 pm on Friday, June 30th. R. 896, ln. 6. The jury subsequently sent notes to the Trial Court, including one after several hours of deliberations indicating they were stuck. Specifically, they asked what would happen “if we cannot come to a unanimous decision.” The note further stated the jury was split “9-3 Guilty.” R. 902, ln. ; R. 954 (emphasis in original). Interestingly, the Trial Court failed to relay the entirety of the jury note to Trial Counsel by failing to relay the jury split.<sup>3</sup> The Trial Court brought in the jury at 8:12 pm, and gave the following instruction:

Thank you, Mr. Foreperson. I received your note. What I want to do is *I want to encourage you to continue your deliberations.* I appreciate your patience and service this week. I will reiterate one of my instructions that I gave to you earlier this afternoon when it comes to deliberation.

Each of you must decide the case for yourselves. But *you should do so only after you have impartially considered all of the elements, discussed it fully with other jurors, and listen—listen to the views of your fellow jurors.*

Do not be afraid to change your opinion if the discussion persuades you that you should, but do not come a decision simply

---

<sup>3</sup> The Trial Court informed the parties as follows:

Got a note from the jury. Sounds like they want to know what they can do. If they cannot come to a unanimous decision, what happens?

So I believe at this point, we’re getting close to an Allen charge.

R. 902, ll. 4-8.

because other jurors think it's right. *It is important that you attempt to reach a unanimous verdict.* But of course, only if each of you can do so after having made your own decision. Do not change an honest belief on the weight and effect of the evidence simply to reach a verdict. In other words, do not change your opinion solely for the sake of reaching a unanimous verdict.

All right.

Mr. Foreperson, *I'm going to ask that y'all continue your deliberations.* And I thank you for your service. You may retire to your jury deliberation room.

R. 903, ln. 22–R. 904, ln. 25 (emphasis added). The jury was then sent back at 8:14 pm to continue deliberations. R. 905, ln. 1.

Hours later, the jury sent another note again indicating they were stuck and no movement occurred. Specifically, the foreman wrote as follows:

All jurors are stuck in their opinions, without a final answer or vote. No change has happened in 3 hours. There is no productive things going on. Is there a certain time we are able to leave or is there a way we could come back at the next business day to further our deliberation? Again, there hasn't been any change within the 3 hours.

R. 905, ll. 8-19; R. 955. Trial Counsel argued the Court already provided what was effectively an Allen charge, and that the jury was hung even after lengthy deliberations. R. 905, ln. 23—R. 906, ln. 20. The State indicated an Allen charge was appropriate to inform the jury about the meaning of a mistrial. R. 906, ln. 22–R. 907, ln. 13. Trial Counsel again argued against it, averring to do so was a second Allen charge and coercive under statutory law as well. R. 907, ln. 14–R. 908, ln. 24. The Trial Court decided that its prior instruction was not an Allen charge; rather, it was simply “reconfirming their instructions to deliberate.” R. 909, ll. 1-15. The Court indicated the most recent note asked to come back; as a result, the jury was summoned back to

the courtroom at 10:33 pm, and dismissed for the weekend with instructions to reconvene on Monday at 9:00 am. R. 909, ln. 6–R. 910, ln. 16.

On Monday, July 3rd, Trial Counsel renewed the motion for mistrial, again asserting that giving another Allen charge would be a prohibited second instruction on the matter. Counsel further pointed out the exasperated and emotional appearances of some jurors on the previous Friday night. R. 916, ln. 19–R. 917, ln. 8; R. 919, ln. 25—921, ln. 15. The Trial Court again denied the motion, stating “I believe I did not give an Allen charge at the beginning, that they were not hopelessly deadlocked. So it wasn’t an Allen charge.” R. 921, ll. 17-22. The Court then brought in the jury at 9:16 am, and instructed them to continue deliberations as follows:

Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. Thank you for being here today promptly on time. I do appreciate that.

After we left Friday, *I received the jury note about—that y’all are stuck.* So I’m going to read you what’s called an Allen charge at this point.

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, when any matter is in dispute, it is not always easy for even two people to agree. Therefore, I understand when 12 people must agree, it becomes much more difficult. *It is important that you attempt to end this case without a single one of you doing violence to your conscience.* It is your duty as jurors to consult with one another and to deliberate with a view towards reaching an agreement if you can do so without violence to your individual judgment.

Each of you must decide the case for yourself, but do so only after an impartial consideration of the evidence in the case with your fellow jurors. In the course of your deliberation, do not hesitate to reexamine your own views and change your opinion if convinced that your opinion is erroneous.

No juror is expected to give up his or her opinion based on reasoning satisfactory to yourself merely for the purpose of being in agreement. And I want you to understand that. And do not surrender your honest convictions as to the weight or the effect of the evidence solely because the opinion of your fellow jurors is

contrary to your opinion for the mere purpose of returning a verdict.

It has never been intended that the verdict of the jury should be the verdict of any one person. On the other hand, *the verdict of the jury is the collective reasoning of all persons put together. The reason we have a jury is so that we might have the benefit of the collective thought and collective reasoning of the jury.* It may help to tell the other jurors how you feel about the case and why you think as you do. And I'm sure that you have been doing that already.

On the other hand, it may help if the other jurors exchange views with you. And I ask that you listen to each other, and give the—to the others' thoughts such meaning as you think they should have.

*I'm now going to ask you to again retire to the jury room for further deliberations, and see if you can reach a verdict in this case.* And let me close by reminding you again that while *it is important that you attempt to come to a decision,* you should do so without any juror doing violence to his or her own conscience. No juror is expected to give up an opinion based on reasoning satisfactory to himself or herself merely for the purpose of being in agreement.

And ladies and gentlemen, *I want to reiterate, too, as I told you in the jury instructions, during your jury deliberation, you will deliberate respectfully of every single other juror. As I just stated, you will listen courteously and respectfully. That is an order of this Court.* You have an oath to deliberate with respect for every single juror.

Ladies and gentlemen, also if it gets towards lunchtime, it takes us about an hour to order lunch. So if you're getting towards that time, let us know, and it take about an hour ahead of time. *I'm gonna let you, again, retire to your jury deliberation room and continue your deliberations.* Thank you.

R. 922, ln. 7–R. 925, ln. 5 (emphasis added). The jury was sent out of the courtroom at 9:20 am to once again deliberate. R. 925, ln. 6.

Additionally, prior to the Court's charge to the jury on July 3rd, Appellant moved for mistrial based on jurors by discussing the case outside of deliberations over the weekend.

Specifically, attorney Ashley Berry (Attorney Berry), who was unrelated to the case, testified before the Court that she overheard two men loudly discussing the case while poolside at the Woodlands Golf and Country Club on Sunday. She heard them discussing the jury trial, as well as details of jurors and the jury split. R. 917, ln. 9—R. 919, ln. 4; R. 925, ln. 10—R. 928, ln. 16. Further, Trial Counsel identified Juror #285 as the juror who previously spoke with the person discussing the case by the pool. R. 917, ll. 13—R. 918, ln. 18. Counsel asked for the juror to be removed as a remedy, and that a mistrial be granted due to the lack of any available alternate jurors at that time. R. 918, ll. 18-22.

Prior to Attorney Berry’s testimony, the Trial Court held as follows:

At this point, it’s “someone heard someone say something.”  
As your renewed motions, those are denied as previously stated.

As the Juror 285, I don’t think that rises to the level to violate her oath at this point. If we get more information, we’ll talk to Ms. Berry about all these people that were allegedly at this pool saying all these things. Until this point, I believe that motion it does not rise to a violation of the oath. Your motion is denied.

R. 919, ll. 8-17. Trial Counsel specifically requested that the Court bring in Juror #285 for questioning, but that request was cut short by the Trial Court, and denied as follows: “Again, as of this point, I don’t believe it rises to that level. So we’re gonna bring him in. We’re gonna read them the Allen charge.” R. 919, ll. 18-24. After ordering the jury to continue deliberations, the Trial Court heard Attorney Berry’s aforementioned testimony. However, the Trial Court did not bring out Juror #285 for questioning regarding discussions about the case and deliberations with non-jurors outside of the jury room.

Ultimately, the Court denied the mistrial motion on the record, ruling as follows:

Before we bring the jury back, as to your motion for a mistrial, I’m going to deny it at this point. I’ve heard the testimony from Ms. Berry in conjunction with the oath and the

instructions. And I believe it does not rise to that level. So your motion is noted for the record but denied.

R. 930, ll. 6-12. The jury was brought in immediately after and rendered its verdict at 11:22 am: Appellant was found guilty of murder. R. 930, ln. 20–R. 931, ln.15. After denying Appellant’s renewed motions and motion for new trial, the Court sentenced Appellant to 35 years. R. 935, ln. 17–R. 936, ln. 5; R. 952, ln. 8-11; R. 960-961.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The trial court reversibly erred by failing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal for the State's failure to produce sufficient evidence disproving the elements of self-defense.**

The State failed to muster any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence disproving any of the elements of self-defense. As such, the trial court reversibly erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal on the charge of murder.

“In criminal cases, the appellate court only reviews errors of law and is clearly bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless the findings are clearly erroneous.” State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 498–99, 716 S.E.2d 97, 100–01 (2011) (citing State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)).

A trial court must direct a verdict of acquittal when the record does not contain evidence to support every element of the charged offense. See, e.g., State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 586, 602 S.E.2d 392, 395 (2004); State v. Evans, 376 S.C. 421, 424, 656 S.E.2d 782, 783 (Ct. App. 2008) (“A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the state fails to produce evidence on a material element of the offense charged.”); see also In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1073 (1970) (“Lest there remain any doubt about the constitutional stature of the reasonable-doubt standard, we explicitly hold that the Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.”); Rule 19(a), SCRCrimP (West, Westlaw current through Dec. 1, 2011) (“[O]n motion of the defendant or on its own motion, the court shall direct a verdict in the defendant’s favor on any offense charged . . . if there is a failure of competent evidence tending to prove the charge in the indictment.”). When considering a motion for directed verdict of acquittal, “the trial court is concerned the existence or non-existence of

evidence, not its weight.” Brown, 360 S.C. at 586, 602 S.E.2d at 395. Additionally, where uncontroverted facts establish self-defense as a matter of law, “the State is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.” Dickey, 394 S.C. at 499, 716 S.E.2d at 101 (emphasis added) (quoting State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 544–45, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492–93 (1998)); see also State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014) (citing State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 262, 565 S.E.2d 298, 303 (2002) (limiting application of the “beyond a reasonable doubt” standard to motions for directed verdict based upon self-defense for instances where fact are uncontroverted, and self-defense is established as a matter of law); but see State v. Oates, 421 S.C. 1, 19, 803 S.E.2d 911, 921 (Ct. App. 2017) (“we interpret Butler to stand for the proposition that our well-established directed verdict standard is not altered by a defendant’s claim of self-defense.”).

Under South Carolina law, self-defense justifies the use of deadly force when four elements are present:

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