RECEIVED

Feb 27 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
The Honorable Daniel McLeod Coble, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JAMIRA U. DAVIS,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001215

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

R. BRANDON LARRABEE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104865

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-0192
(803) 576-1800

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court correctly denied Appellant’s motion for directed verdict, given that there was evidence in the record from which the juror could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant murdered the victim and did not act in self-defense.

Appellant argues that the trial court potentially used the wrong standard in denying her motion for a directed verdict, and ruled incorrectly in any event. Both contentions are incorrect.

A. There is no confusion about the standard for granting directed verdicts.

As an initial matter, Appellant attempts to confuse the standard for the granting of a mistrial by plucking isolated language from *State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011). However, as our courts have now made clear, the “standard” announced in *Dickey* did not alter how a court considers a motion for mistrial; the court is still looking for the existence of evidence, not its weight.

In *Dickey*, a security guard shot and killed one of two guests that the guard was removing from an apartment complex. *See id.* at 496–97, 716 S.E.2d at 99–100. Both the security guard and other guest, a friend of the deceased, testified that the deceased was moving toward the security guard and likely intended to do him harm when the security guard fired his weapon. *See id.*

The majority in *Dickey* noted some of the usual language about when a motion for directed verdict should be granted, then added the sentence that Appellant uses to argue that there is a higher standard for cases in which self-defense is invoked: “However, when a defendant claims self-defense, the State is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. We find the State did not carry that burden.” *Id.* at 499, 716 S.E.2d at 101 (citation omitted). *See also id.* at 502, 716 at 102 (“The State certainly did not rebut these elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt, as the law requires.”); *id.* at 503, 716 S.E.2d at 103 (“[W]e find the State failed to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.”).

But as both our supreme court and this Court have found, *Dickey* did not alter South Carolina’s standard for a directed verdict on self-defense. Indeed, the *Dickey* court determined that as a matter of law—a phrase used at least four times in the majority opinion—the security guard acted in self-defense. *See id.* at 501, 716 S.E.2d at 102 (twice); *id.* at 502, 716 S.E.2d at 102; *id.* at 503, 716 S.E.2d at 103. In other words, the *Dickey* court found that a directed verdict was proper because no jury was needed—because the State’s own theory of the case was essentially that the security guard acted in self-defense. *See id.* at 500, 716 S.E.2d at 102 (“Had [the security guard] accompanied the ejection with threatening words or posture, a jury question might have arisen.”).

Three years later, our supreme court clarified its position in *State v. Butler*, 407 S.C. 376, 755 S.E.2d 457 (2014). There, the court rejected an attempt to frame *Dickey* as a change in the standard of review. *See id.* at 381–82, 755 S.E.2d at 460 (“In *Dickey*, the Court held that the defendant was entitled a directed verdict on the issue of self-defense because the *uncontroverted* facts established self-defense *as a matter of law*. Therefore, even viewing the facts in a light most favorable to the State, the Court found that the evidence established that the defendant acted in self-defense.”). Likewise, in *State v. Oates*, this Court looked at both the *Dickey* and *Butler* decisions and “interpret[ed] *Butler* to stand for the proposition that our well-established directed verdict standard is not altered by a defendant’s claim of self-defense.” 421 S.C. 1, 19, 803 S.E.2d 911, 921 (Ct. App. 2017).

As a result, there is no confusion about the standard to be applied in this case. “When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight.” *Butler*, 407 S.C. at 381, 755 S.E.2d at 460 (cleaned up) (quoting *State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 544–45, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492–93 (1998)). “If there is any direct evidence or

substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006)).

B. The trial court here correctly concluded that, based on the inconsistencies in Appellant’s version of events and what the jury could interpret as the general implausibility of her story, there was sufficient for the jury to determine beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant murdered Victim.

Appellant argues that under either standard, the trial court should have directed a verdict because the State did not sufficiently disprove self-defense. Under the appropriate standard, Appellant is incorrect.

A person is justified in using deadly force in self-defense when:

- (1) The defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- (2) The defendant . . . actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger;
- (3) If the defense is based upon the defendant’s actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief . . . ; and
- (4) The defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 314–15, 733 S.E.2d 605, 609 (Ct. App. 2012). If the State disproves any one of these elements beyond a reasonable doubt, the claim of self-defense is defeated. “It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not been established if any one element is disproven.” *Id.* at 315, 733 S.E.2d at 609 (quoting *State v. Bixby*, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010) *see also* *In re Tracy B.*, 391 S.C. 51, 71, 704 S.E.2d 71, 81 (Ct. App.

2010) (“The State need only disprove one of the four elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.”).

Again, *Butler* is instructive. There, our supreme court ruled that the State presented sufficient evidence to defeat a claim for self-defense when the defendant gave a story that was inconsistent and differed with the physical evidence in the case. *Butler*, 407 S.C. at 382, 755 S.E.2d at 460. The defendant in *Butler* claimed that the victim had savagely abused her by kicking her, choking her, and hitting her in the face with a DVD/VCR player. *Id.* at 378, 755 S.E.2d at 458. The defendant said she attempted to retaliate with a knife, at which point the victim grabbed her and began trying to gain control of the blade. *Id.* at 378, 755 S.E.2d at 458–59. According to the defendant, the victim said “I will kill you. I’m going to kill you.” *Id.* at 379, 755 S.E.2d at 459. “When the victim let go and [the defendant] turned around, she saw him ‘coming [] down onto the knife.’” *Id.* In her testimony and statements to police, the defendant gave a variety of stories claiming alternatively that the defendant fell on the knife, that he didn’t fall on the knife, and that “the initial stab . . . [was] an accident.” *Id.* (alteration in original). However, our supreme court reasoned that the defendant’s “various, inconsistent accounts of how the stabbing occurred created credibility issues and questions of fact to be resolved by the jury,” as did the fact that her injuries did not appear to support her testimony that she was struck in the head with her description of the abuse she allegedly suffered at the hands of the victim. *Id.* at 382, 755 S.E.2d at 460.

Appellant’s case is strikingly similar. Like the defendant in *Butler*, Appellant alleged that Victim abused her and she acted in self-defense. Further, Appellant gave several versions of various aspects of the shooting, the narrative of her evening around the fatal encounter, and what she did with the weapon—up until virtually the moment of trial. She struggled to explain the mechanics of how she managed to shoot Victim in the back and have his body end up where it was

later found. The jury was left to sort out which version of the Appellant’s story they believed—and how much of it they believed. Her credibility issues created a jury issue. *See id.*; *see also State v. Guderyon*, 438 S.C. 476, 884 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2022) (“For purposes of the circuit court’s analysis at the verdict stage, it does not matter which story the jury would later choose to believe.”).

As a result, Appellant’s attempt to parse out the prongs of our state’s self-defense law is in vain. Which prong did the State present sufficient evidence to disprove at trial? The answer is “virtually all of them.” The State’s evidence was sufficient to convince the jury beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not fear for her life; that the fear was not reasonable; and that she had no other probable means of defending herself—because her testimony about how all of those things occurred remained implausible and kept shifting. Just because the same evidence undermined the various bases of her self-defense theory does not mean that the State did not undermine the claim beyond a reasonable doubt.

The State presented sufficient evidence to show the jury that it should not believe Appellant’s testimony about why she killed the victim. The trial court properly ruled that Appellant was not entitled to a directed verdict. This Court should affirm her conviction.

II. The trial court's *Allen* charge was not coercive because the court gave an even-handed admonishment to jurors to consider each other's opinion, and because the jury signaled that it would consent to further deliberations.

Appellant argues that the trial court's *Allen* charge was impermissibly coercive toward the jury and should not have been given under South Carolina law because it operated as a second *Allen* charge. However, the trial court gave an appropriate *Allen* charge, and there was no error even if it was a second *Allen* charge. Appellant is incorrect.

In evaluating whether an *Allen* charge is coercive, a court should consider four factors:

- (1) Does the charge speak specifically to the minority juror(s)?
- (2) Does the charge include language such as "You have got to reach a decision in this case"?
- (3) Is there an inquiry into the jury's numerical division, which is generally coercive?
- (4) Does the time between when the charge was given, and when the jury returned a verdict, demonstrate coercion?

State v. Rampey, 438 S.C. 519, 525, 885 S.E.2d 366, 369 (2022) (quoting *Workman v. State*, 412 S.C. 128, 131, 771 S.E.2d 636, 638 (2015)).¹² State law also specifies that if a jury, after having first indicated to a court that it is deadlocked, "returns a second time without having agreed upon a verdict, it shall not be sent out again without its own consent unless it shall ask from the court some further explanation of the law." S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1330 (West). However, a court's decision to give a second *Allen* charge is not an independent ground to automatically find the *Allen* charge coercive. See *State v. Pauling*, 322 S.C. 95, 99, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996) ("We further conclude that the mere giving of the second *Allen* charge was not per se coercive.").

¹² These are sometimes referred to as the *Tucker* factors, given their origins for South Carolina purposes in *Tucker v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 483, 487, 552 S.E.2d 712, 714 (2001).

First, the State does not concede that the *Allen* charge challenged by Appellant was a second *Allen* charge. The trial court considered its first comments to the jury to be answering the jury's question by referring back to its original instructions, a routine way of responding to juror questions in South Carolina. The court did encourage the jury to continue deliberating, but this response was not tantamount to an *Allen* charge.

However, if this Court is inclined to find that both of the judge's remarks to the jury were *Allen* charges, the second *Allen* charge was not unduly coercive on its own, nor was it a violation of the state's statutory restrictions on subsequent *Allen* charges.

As to the issue of coercion, the trial court in this case carefully constructed its *Allen* charge to avoid many of the pitfalls that other courts have encountered over the years. On balance, a review of the factors show that the *Allen* charge in this case was not impermissibly coercive.

First, the charge did not specifically speak to minority jurors. Appellant does not point to any authority indicating that the court's comments about the collective reasoning of juries is *per se* coercive toward minority jurors. Instead, properly used—as it was here—the charge is part of the balance that a trial court must strike in an *Allen* charge. It encourages jurors to stick to their guns if they must, but to consider the reasoning of the other jurors. It is true that our supreme court found coercive in *Tucker v. Catoe* a jury charge that included language instructing that “[i]t was never intended that the verdict of the jury should be the verdict of any one person.” 346 S.C. 483, 487, 552 S.E.2d 712, 714 (2001). However, in that case, the court was aware that only one juror was preventing a guilty verdict. *Id.* at 493, 552 S.E.2d at 717. In contrast, the court here had reason to believe that as many as three and at least two jurors were holding out. The instruction was far less targeted here than in *Tucker*.

Additionally, the instruction did not have the urgency that generally indicates that the second *Tucker* factor has been violated. For example, in *Rampey*, our supreme court found the charge coercive when the judge implored the jury that the parties “deserv[ed] a verdict” and repeatedly invoked the resources that had been spent on the proceedings. *See Rampey*, 438 S.C. at 526–27, 885 S.E.2d at 369–70; *id.* at 527, 885 S.E.2d at 370 (“While it is permissible in an *Allen* charge to note the expense of a retrial, the trial court overemphasized this consideration here.”).

Appellant’s attempt to characterize the judge’s remark “that while it is important that you attempt to come to a decision, you should do so without any juror doing violence to his or her conscience” as a violation of the second standard inverts what our supreme court has called a “hallmark” of an appropriate *Allen* charge. *See id.* at 530, 885 S.E.2d at 371 (faulting the charge in that case for “fail[ing] to tell jurors not to surrender their conscientiously-held beliefs for the sake of a verdict” because “[t]his language is one of the hallmarks of a typical *Allen* charge”); *see also State v. Taylor*, 427 S.C. 208, 218, 829 S.E.2d 723, 729 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The most troubling thing about the charge here is what it did not say; it did not tell the jurors they should not surrender their conscientiously held beliefs simply for the sake of reaching a verdict, an essential message that sometimes saves borderline charges from crossing the line into coercion.”). The trial court’s statement earlier in the same passage that it would send the jury back and “see if you can reach a verdict in this case” is notably less insistent than the charge in *Rampey* that the trial court would “ask you to return to your jury room and attempt to come to a verdict.” *See Rampey*, 438 S.C. at 526, 885 S.E.2d at 369. Here, the court was only telling the jury the purpose of deliberations—to determine whether a verdict could be reached—rather than expressing a preference over the outcome. *See State v. Taylor*, 427 S.C. 208, 213, 829 S.E.2d 723, 726 (Ct. App. 2019) (“In fact,

the trial judge has a duty to urge the jury—without pressuring or coercing them—to reach a verdict.”).

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